STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAY 11 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEXTER L. MYERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001881

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEXTER L. MYERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001881

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in concluding a text message was a present sense impression, and therefore admissible as an exception to the rule against hearsay, where the state failed to present evidence that (1) the statement described or explained an event or condition; (2) the statement was contemporaneous with the event it was describing; and (3) that the declarant personally perceived the event allegedly described or explained?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 14, 2014, a Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant for attempted murder (2014-GS-40-5481) and murder (2014-GS-40-5482). R. 610-611; 613-614. The state, represented by Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and J.J. Shellenberg, called the case for trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury on August 31, 2015. R. 1. Tracy Pinnock, Rhodes Bailey, and Catherine Mubarak represented Appellant. R. 1.

Based on the evidence presented, the judge instructed the jury on murder, voluntary manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, attempted murder, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, self-defense, and accident. R. 564, l. 1 -- R. 581, l. 8.

The jury began deliberating on September 3, 2015, at 3:54 p.m. Approximately an hour later, the jury requested “clarity” on the difference between voluntary manslaughter and involuntary manslaughter. R. 587, ll. 13-25; R. 608. In compliance with the request, the judge re-charged the jury on voluntary manslaughter and involuntary manslaughter. R. 587, l. 25 – R. 589, l. 25. The jury resumed deliberating at 4:50 p.m. R. 590, ll. 4-5. At 6:51 p.m., after deliberating another two hours, the jury requested to go home for the evening and return the following day to continue deliberations. R. 590, l. 19 – 591, l. 1; R. 609. The judge permitted the jurors to retire for the evening at 6:53 p.m. R. 591, ll. 22-23. On September 4, 2015, the jurors returned and commenced deliberating at 9:06 a.m. R. 592, ll. 5-8. At 3:51 p.m., after deliberating for a total of approximately ten hours, the jury delivered its verdicts. R. 592, ll. 18-19. Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 594, ll. 4-8. The jury found Appellant guilty of attempted murder. R. 594, ll. 9-12.

Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter and to twenty years' imprisonment for attempted murder. R. 599, ll. 1-10; R. 612; 615. He ordered the sentences to be served consecutively. R. 599, ll. 10-11.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In July of 2014, Appellant was living in an apartment with his sister, Mahogany Speech-Harris, her husband, Dajuan Harris, his brother, Shamaray Myers, and his sister's two daughters. R. 140, ll. 2-7; R. 397, ll. 13-17. Mahogany and her husband shared a bedroom, and the daughters had bedrooms. R. 141, ll. 11-12; R. 398, ll. 8-12. Appellant and Shamaray slept in the living room. R. 141, ll. 13-18; R. 397, l. 25 - R. 398, l. 7; R. 398, ll. 13-14.

According to Mahogany, she awoke early on July 2, 2014, because her younger daughter was crying. R. 141, l. 19 – R. 142, l. 2. Unable to get the daughter to return to sleep, Mahogany got up and started preparing breakfast. R. 142, ll. 2-5; R. 143, ll. 2-15. A short while later, Mahogany's older daughter woke up and joined them for breakfast. R. 143, ll. 13-25. Realizing Dajuan was still in bed, Mahogany along with her younger daughter, went to the master bedroom to wake Dajuan, who then joined them for breakfast. R. 143, l. 23 – R. 144, l. 8. She prepared plates for Dajuan and for her daughters. R. 143, ll. 23-25; R. 144, ll. 9-15. While Dajuan and his daughters were at the table eating, Mahogany was in the kitchen preparing her plate when she heard gunshots, which she initially believed were firecrackers. R. 144, l. 16 – R. 146, l. 7. Then, Mahogany heard Shamaray say, "No, Dexter, no." R. 146, l. 8; R. 146, l. 16; R. 146, l. 21; R. 146, ll. 23-25. When Mahogany looked up, she saw the gun. R. 146, l. 9; R. 146, ll. 21-22. She claimed Appellant pointed the gun at her. R. 147, ll. 2-7. She then fell on the floor. R. 147, ll. 10-14. Mahogany did not see Dajuan – she did not "even remember seeing anything." R. 147, ll. 23-25; R. 148, ll. 4-5. She only saw the gunshots. R. 148, ll. 1-4.

Appellant testified that on the morning of July 2, 2014, he woke up to the sound of loud noises. R. 398, ll. 18-25. He got his phone, checked the time, and got on a social media website. R. 399, ll. 14-21. He heard a door slam in the back of the apartment, and saw Mahogany rush out of

the room. R. 400, ll. 1-6. Dajuan was following her. R. 400, ll. 11-13. Appellant turned his attention to Dajuan when he heard Dajuan's aggressive tone. R. 401, ll. 7-25. The two then exchanged words. R. 402, ll. 1-24. Dajuan went for a gun that was on the living room floor. R. 402, ll. 24-25; R. 403, ll. 3-7. Fearing what Dajuan would do, Appellant also went for the gun. R. 403, ll. 8-17. Although Dajuan got the gun first, the two struggled for control of it. R. 403, l. 18 - R. 404, l. 2. During the struggle, the gun fired. R. 404, ll. 3-6. As the two continued to fight, more shots were fired. R. 404, l. 7 - R. 406, l. 7. Mahogany approached them and was shot as well. R. 405, ll. 13-19; R. 406, ll. 3-12.

After the shooting, Appellant left the apartment. R. 408, ll. 1-2. Mahogany ran across the hall to her neighbor's apartment. R. 17, ll. 17-24; R. 148, ll. 16-19. From there, the neighbor called for help. R. 18, ll. 19-20; R. 148, ll. 20-22. The police arrived quickly, and began search for Appellant. R. 24, ll. 7-19. Later that day, the police found Appellant at the home of his friend. R. 408, ll. 18-21; R. 409, l. 25 - R. 410, l. 3. Although Appellant initially lied to the police by denying involvement, Appellant eventually told the police about the struggle over the gun and the shooting of Dajuan and Mahogany. R. 412, l. 5 - R. 414, l. 5; R. 603.

Ultimately, Dajuan died from injuries he sustained as a result of gunshot wounds from the struggle with Appellant. R. 37, ll. 1-21; R. 321, ll. 4-6. Mahogany suffered minor injuries from two to three gunshot wounds to her leg. R. 149, ll. 2-15; R. 199, ll. 13-20.

Thus, it was undisputed that Appellant shot Dajuan and Mahogany. The only questions for the jury to resolve concerning were whether Appellant committed murder or attempted murder, a lesser offense, or whether his conduct was excused based on self-defense or accident. Therefore, evidence of Appellant's intent was central to the jury's determination.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in concluding a text message was a present sense impression, and therefore admissible as an exception to the rule against hearsay, where the state failed to present evidence that (1) the statement described or explained an event or condition; (2) the statement was contemporaneous with the event it was describing; and (3) that the declarant personally perceived the event allegedly described or explained.

Relevant facts

When the state initially called Mahogany to testify, she mentioned that after the shooting, she “was going through [her] text messages” and saw a text message allegedly from Dajuan, which she turned over to law enforcement. R. 149, l. 20 – R. 150, l. 4. Prior to Mahogany testifying a second time, defense counsel informed the judge of a “matter of law.” R. 293, ll. 5-6. Thereafter, the parties engaged in a bench conference, which was not reported. R. 293, l. 8. The state called Mahogany to testify the second time concerning a text message only. According to Mahogany, she went through the text messages on her cell phone sometime after the shooting. R. 293, ll. 17-19. She found a text message that caught her attention. R. 293, ll. 23-25. As a result, she contacted a detective at the Richland County Sheriff’s Office about the text message. R. 293, ll. 20-22. When the state attempted to introduce the text message, defense counsel objected. R. 294, ll. 1-12. The judge overruled the objection. R. 294, l. 13.¹

¹ Defense counsel renewed her objection at the close of the state’s case, specifically explaining the text message should not have been admitted as it was not permissible as an exception to the hearsay rule. R. 391, ll. 14-20. After the defense’s presentation, defense counsel renewed her objections and motions as well. R. 469, ll. 15-17. Defense counsel made sure to renew her motions and objections after the state’s reply witness testified. R. 492, ll. 11-21. Finally, after the jury’s verdict, defense counsel moved for a new trial and explained one of the bases for the motion was the trial judge’s erroneous admission of the text message as inadmissible hearsay. R. 595, ll. 3-13.

Mahogany was permitted to testify regarding the content of the message and the message was admitted as an exhibit. R. 294, l. 10 – R. 295, l. 1; R. 607. The message stated: “Where you at your brothers around there talking a whole lot of shit like they said they going to burn me and the kids I think they trying to buy a gun because I heard them talking about it and good luck.” R. 607; see also, R. 294, l. 23 – R. 295, l. 1 (Mahogany read the text message to the jurors in which she corrected at least one misspelled word and the court reporter added punctuation presumably based upon Mahogany’s inflections when reading the message). Mahogany claimed the text message was from Dajuan despite no evidence being presented of his phone number or her phone number. R. 294, ll. 6-9. In fact, the message itself only indicates “*Husband My” and does not reveal the sender or recipient. R. 607. Although not revealed on direct examination, Mahogany admitted on cross-examination that the text message was dated March 21, 2014. R. 295, ll. 10-13; R. 607. She further admitted she did not contact the police or anyone about this information at the time. R. 295, l. 14 – R. 296, l. 2.

At the first opportunity, defense counsel put the basis for the objection on the record. Defense counsel explained the text message was hearsay and did not fit within any of the exceptions. R. 350, ll. 10-24. Further, defense counsel argued Appellant was unable to confront or cross-examine the alleged author of the text message. R. 350, ll. 14-15. The state argued the text message was a “present sense impression of the sender of the text message” and was “authenticated by the witness that it was from her husband.” R. 351, ll. 2-5. In response, defense counsel cited State v. Parvin, 413 S.C. 497, 777 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2015) to support her argument. R. 351, ll. 7-9. Defense counsel explained that in order for the present sense impression exception to apply, the state must establish that the statement describes or explains an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or

immediately thereafter. R. 351, ll. 11-15. Further, defense counsel explained the “three elements for the foundation of the admission of that statement.” R. 351, ll. 15-17. According to defense counsel, the state was required to show: “The first being the statement must describe or explain an event or condition, the statement must be contemporaneous with the event, and third, the declarant must have personally perceived the event.” R. 351, ll. 17-21. Defense counsel explained that “[n]one of those elements were presented to the Court.” R. 351, l. 21. Specifically, no evidence had been presented of *when* “this alleged conversation between [Appellant] and his brother occurred.” R. 351, ll. 22-24. There was no evidence of the time of the alleged conversation or even if the conversation occurred on the same day as the text message. R. 351, ll. 24-25.

Discussion

“Hearsay is not admissible.” Rule 802, SCRE. “‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. The state argued, and the judge apparently found, the text message was admissible as a present sense impression. R. 350, l. 25 – R. 351, l. 5. However, the trial judge erred in finding the text message admissible as a present sense impression.

The Rules of Evidence permit the introduction of statements “describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter” as an exception to the bar against hearsay. Rule 803(1), SCRE. “There are three elements to the foundation for the admission of a hearsay statement as a present sense impression: (1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event.” State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014); see also, United States

v. Mitchell, 145 F.3d 572, 576 (3rd Cir. 1998). The state failed to present evidence to satisfy any of the three elements.

Descriptive

By the Rule's very language, the proffered statement must describe or explain an event or condition. The South Carolina Supreme Court held a statement by an alleged victim that he planned to meet the defendant for a drug deal was not admissible as a present sense impression because the statement was "regarding a *future* event and not a statement regarding something contemporaneously perceived." State v. Griffin, 339 S.C. 74, 78 n. 3, 528 S.E.2d 668, 670 n. 3 (2000)(emphasis in original). Importantly, the statement must not concern an opinion or draw a conclusion; rather, the statement must "explain, elucidate or in some way characterize the nature of the event." State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 328, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978)(explaining how a statement would not be admissible under the present sense impression of Rule 803 of the Federal Rules of Evidence due to conclusory nature). The text message admitted into evidence failed to demonstrate that it was a description or explanation of an event or condition, and the state failed to present any additional evidence to support such a conclusion.

The very nature of the text message demonstrated it was a *conclusion* when the author stated "I think." According to the text message, the author thought "they trying to buy a gun because I heard them talking about it." The author did not describe *what* he heard the individuals, whom are not identified specifically, talking about; rather, he explained the *conclusion* he drew from whatever, if anything, he heard.

Additionally, the author stated "your brothers around tthere talking a whole lot of shit like they said they going to burn me and the kids." There was no indication of which brother made the comment allegedly heard by the author. Certainly, both did not speak at exactly the same time and

say the exact same thing. In light of the author's use of the term "like" preceding his statement regarding what he heard, it is entirely possible that he was not providing an example of the "talking a whole lot of shit," but he was providing an analogy and, therefore, the statement attributed to the brothers was not a statement at all, but was the author's comparison.

Contemporaneity

In State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 499, 492 S.E.2d 408, 413 (Ct. App. 1997), this Court held a statement given nearly ten hours after the alleged incident was not made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter, as required by the Rule. The South Carolina Supreme Court made clear that in order for a statement to fall within the present sense impression exception, the record must contain evidence of when the event or condition occurred in order to establish the statement was made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition or immediately thereafter. State v. Garcia, 334 S.C. 71, 77 n. 4, 512 S.E.2d 507, 510 n.4 (1999).

The text message, and the record as a whole, are completely devoid of any evidence to suggest *when* the author of the text message heard the information described in the message, if the author ever did. The text message was dated March 21, 2014, but there was no evidence provided at all regarding when the information within the text message occurred. According to the author, Mahogany's brothers were "around there talking a whole lot of shit like they said they going to burn me and the kids." The author did not say when the brothers were talking. The conversation allegedly heard by the author may have occurred hours, days, weeks, or even months prior to the text message. It clearly transpired prior to the writing of the text message as evidenced by the use of the past tense "said" and was not being described in the text message as it was occurring.

The author also claimed to have “heard them talking about it.” There was no indication of when the author heard the brothers talking. Although the assumption is that the author heard the brothers talking about a gun, the author did not identify “it,” specifically in the text message or when the conversation about “it” occurred. Again, the use of the past tense supports the conclusion that the conversation occurred prior to the execution of the text message, but offers no other clues as to when the conversation actually took place.

Personally perceive

This Court has emphasized that the declarant actually perceive the event or condition described. In State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014), this Court held statements during a 911 call by a mother concerning her daughter’s allegations of rape were not a present sense impression because the mother did not perceive the rape. The Supreme Court likewise emphasized the necessity that the declarant actually perceive or witness the event or condition in State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 180 n. 9, 638 S.E.2d 57, 63 n. 9 (2006) where the record contained insufficient evidence that the declarant witnessed the shooting.

The text message described the brothers being “around there.” It appears the author meant “around there.” In other words, the author was describing the brothers as being in some place different from the author. Thus, if the brothers, who were allegedly “talking a whole lot of shit,” were doing so “around there,” then the author could not have personally perceived the conversation. Rather, the author would have described the brothers as being “around here” to explain how the author was aware of the contents of the conversation. In light of the author’s choice of words to describe the brothers as “talking a whole lot of shit” “around there,” the author was explaining that the brothers were talking outside of his presence.