**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-001881

---

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Dexter L. Myers,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

**MAY 04 2018**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not err in admitting a text message from the deceased victim containing a present sense impression. Further, any possible error is entirely harmless.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 14, 2014, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for attempted murder and murder. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury on August 31, 2015. On September 4, 2015, the jury found Appellant guilty of attempted murder as charged and of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. The trial court sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter and twenty years for attempted murder; the sentences to be served consecutively.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mahogany Speech-Harris, the victim of the attempted murder charge, lived in an apartment with her husband Dajuan Harris, the victim of the murder charge; their two children; and her two brothers, one of which is Appellant. (T.223; R.140). Appellant and his brother had lived with Mahogany off and on for about three years, but had been told in March 2014 that they needed to move out. (T.223-224; R.140-141). Mahogany and Harris had a bedroom, their daughters had a bedroom, and her brothers slept in the living room. (T.224; R.141).

The brothers were still living in the apartment in July 2014. On July 2, 2014, one of the children could not sleep so Mahogany got up to fix breakfast. (T.225; R.142). She took her youngest daughter with her to wake up Harris and have him join them to eat. (T.226-227; R.143-144). Harris and the children were at the table and began eating. According to Mahogany, there were no arguments between her and her brothers or anyone and her brothers that morning. (T.231; 233-234; R.148; 150-151). Mahogany turned to fix her own breakfast and heard “something go pow, pow.” (T.228-229; R.145-146). She said it sounded like fireworks, but then she heard her brother saying: “No, Dexter, no” and when she looked up she saw the gun. (T.229; R.146). Mahogany never saw her husband, she only saw Appellant and indicated: “He just kept shooting . . . .” (T.230-231; R.147-148).

Mahogany ran across the hall to her neighbor’s apartment to call 911. (T.231; R.148). Her neighbor heard three gunshots. (T.93; R.17). Thereafter, Mahogany ran into her apartment “screaming and hollering ‘My brother shot my husband.’” (T.94; R.18). Mahogany told her neighbor she had been shot and her neighbor indicated Mahogany was bleeding. (T.94; R.18).

Master Deputy Fairbanks was the first responder on the scene. He found Mahogany at her neighbor’s apartment. He indicated Mahogany had been shot in the leg. (T.99; R.23). He

entered the other apartment and found Harris locked in the bedroom. (T.99-100; R.23-24). After kicking the door open, they found Harris leaning up against the door. (T.100; R.24).

EMS arrived and located Harris. He was “wedged behind the door lying prone in a pool of blood with obvious . . . trauma to his face and chest area.” (T.119-120; R.36-37). Harris was not breathing, his pupils were fixed and dilated, and he was “cold.” According to EMS, he was “obviously dead.” (T.120; R.37). They then approached Mahogany who had five holes in her outer thigh and buttocks area from where she had been shot. (T.121; R.38). According to the ER doctor, Mahogany had 2-3 gunshot wounds. (T.284; R.199).

The pathologist performed the autopsy on Harris. (T.404; R.306). She indicated Harris had a gunshot wound to the left side of his head, which exited on the right back of the head. Another gunshot wound to the right side of his neck. Finally, there was a gunshot wound to his lower back. (T.406; R.308). She indicated the gunshot to the head was nonfatal as it missed the brain. (T.410-411; R.312-313). The bullet that entered through the neck perforated his trachea, then perforated the major subclavian artery, went through the left upper lobe of the lung, and ultimately entered the soft tissue left arm. (T.412; R.314). The gunshot to the neck was the fatal gunshot. (T.412-413; R.314-315). The final gunshot entered the lower back and twice hit the small intestine. (T.413; R.315).

After the shooting, Appellant fled the apartment. (T.510; R.408). He sought a ride from a neighbor who happened to be leaving at the time. (T.214; R.131). She gave Appellant a ride from the Apartment complex. He told her he was in a fight with his girlfriend and he “just wanted to get away.” (T.215; R.132). Appellant was later apprehended at a friend’s house. (T.324; 510; 512; R.233; 408; 410).

Captain McDonald interviewed Appellant after he was apprehended. After being read his Miranda rights, Appellant agreed to speak with Captain McDonald. Appellant initially denied any involvement and any knowledge of the shooting. He even denied being present. (T.328; R.237). After being confronted with some of the facts that the officers knew from Mahogany, Appellant continued to deny involvement. His story changed to indicate he was at the apartment that morning but had gotten up and left to buy some marijuana and had not returned. (T.329; R.238). Appellant's story changed again as the questioning continued. His third version indicated he was present at the apartment, awakened in the living room, and found a gun on the floor. Appellant indicated the gun was a dangerous gun because the hammer was always cocked. He said he picked it up and it just went off and struck Harris. Appellant told Captain McDonald he had the gun in his hand and it "kept going off and struck Mahogany." (T.329; R.238).

Eventually, Appellant led other investigators to where he had disposed of the gun. (T.331; R.240). After returning, he again spoke with Captain McDonald and gave a written statement which differed from his prior statements. He indicated they have a gun at the apartment for protection and keep it under the couch in the living room. Appellant stated Harris picked up the gun so none of the children would get it. (State's Exhibit 2; T.332; R.241; 600). Harris put the gun in Appellant's hand after Appellant warned him about the hammer being cocked. Appellant explained the gun just went off and hit Harris, and then it went off a few more times and it hit Mahogany. (State's Exhibit 2; T.333; R.242; 600). He indicated there was no argument with Harris that morning and that he did not intentionally shoot Harris. (State's Exhibit 2; T.334; R.243; 600).

Appellant later gave a second written statement. (State's Exhibit 3; T.582; R.480; 603). In this statement, Appellant indicated Mahogany entered the kitchen mad and followed by

Harris. Harris then looked at him and he said “man” meaning move on to Harris. Harris was coming at him and going for the gun. (State’s Exhibit 3; T.583; R.481; 603). Appellant said he grabbed the gun and it went off shooting Harris. He said Harris was still on him so he shot him again. His sister then came at him and Appellant shot her. (State’s Exhibit 3; T.584; R.482; 603). This is a similar version of events to the one Appellant testified to at trial, but he had difficulties remembering many details of the events. (T.519-523; R.417-421).

The trial court ultimately charged the jury with murder, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter as it related to the death of Harris. The court charged both attempted murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature as it related to the wounds sustained by Mahogany. The court also charged the jury with defenses of accident and self-defense. (T.666-684; R.563-581). The jury found Appellant guilty of voluntary manslaughter as to Harris and attempted murder as to Mahogany.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court did not err in admitting a text message from the deceased victim containing a present sense impression. Further, any possible error is entirely harmless.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting a text message sent from the deceased victim to his wife because it was inadmissible hearsay. The text message fell under an exception to hearsay as a present sense impression. Further, any error in the admission of the message is entirely harmless.

#### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265; State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

#### **Merits**

Hearsay is defined as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c),

SCRE. “Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” Rule 802, SCRE.<sup>1</sup> One such exception allows for the admission of a present sense impression. See Rule 803(1), SCRE (“A statement describing or explaining an event or condition while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter.”).

“There are three elements to the foundation for the admission of a hearsay statement as a present sense impression: (1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event.” State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014). The exception is modeled after the Federal Rules of Evidence. See Rule 803 cmt., SCRE. The Note provided by the Advisory Committee to the 1972 proposed rules explains the inclusion of the present sense impression exception: “The underlying theory of Exception [paragraph] (1) is that substantial contemporaneity of event and statement negate the likelihood of deliberate or conscious misrepresentation.” Rule 803 cmt., FRE.

In March, several months before the shooting, Mahogany received a text message from Harris. The message read: “Where you at your brothers around there talking a whole lot of shit like they said they going to burn me and the kids I think they trying to buy a gun because I heard them talking about it and good luck.” (State’s Exhibit 223; T.392-393; R.294-295; 607). The text message in this case can be read to be a description and explanation of an ongoing or recent event perceived by Harris. He starts the message by asking where Mahogany was currently located—“Where you at”—then indicates “your brothers around there [sic] talking a whole lot of

---

<sup>1</sup> Whether a misstatement or a misrepresentation, it is interesting to note Appellant’s brief only includes a portion of Rule 802. (Appellant’s Brief at 10). The quote includes the first part of the Rule: “Hearsay is not admissible,” but omits the most significant portion of Rule 802 for purpose of this appeal: “except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” Clearly, this case involves one of the exceptions to the inadmissibility of hearsay—the present sense exception.

shit” again indicating presently talking. He gives an example of the “shit” they are talking by saying “they said they going to burn me and the kids” which reads as an explanation or description of the recent event being discussed. He describes the remainder of the discussion among the brothers indicating “I think they trying to buy a gun because I heard them talking about it” and ends by wishing his wife “good luck” for the interview she had the day of the text. (T.392-393; State’s Exhibit 223; R.294-295; 607). The discussion can clearly be read as a contemporaneous description and explanation of the discussion going on between Mahogany’s brothers. It does not need to be a live transcription of the events as seems to be argued by Appellant.

The trial court found it was a contemporaneous description meeting the definition of present sense impression. After being presented the argument that the text was not made at the same time as the event, the court still allowed the message into evidence, thereby finding the message was made at the time of the event—the “talking a whole lot of shit” by Mahogany’s brothers. Accordingly, the trial court found the message met the requirements of a present sense impression and this ruling is not so clearly incorrect that it amounts to an abuse of discretion.

Further, even if the statement was improperly admitted as a present sense impression, in order to constitute reversible error Appellant must demonstrate prejudice from its admission. State v. Parvin, 413 S.C. 497, 504, 777 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2015). Even if improper hearsay evidence is admitted, any error in the admission of the hearsay evidence is subject to a harmless error analysis and only warrants reversal if it results in actual prejudice. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006). Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991).

Importantly, Appellant has not argued in his brief how he was prejudiced by the admission of the text messages. As a result, he has not demonstrated reversible error. See State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Further, the improper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice.”); see also, State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 510, 386 S.E.2d 255, 256 (1989) (stating the burden is on the defendant to show not only error but resulting prejudice from jurors’ reading of trial-related newspaper article); Keller v. Pearce-Young-Angel Co., 253 S.C. 395, 399, 171 S.E.2d 352, 355 (1969) (“The burden is, of course, upon the appellant to show not only error but resulting prejudice.”); Cumbie v. Cumbie, 245 S.C. 107, 117, 139 S.E.2d 477, 482 (1964) (finding an argument without merit when “the burden here was on appellant not only to show error, but resulting prejudice, and his argument on appeal does not even suggest wherein he was prejudiced”). Because Appellant has failed to demonstrate any prejudice from the admission of the text messages, this Court should not find reversible error.

Additionally, any error is entirely harmless in this case. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008); see also, State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 67–68, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (“[I]mproper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice. Such error is deemed harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial, and an appellate court will not set aside a conviction for such insubstantial errors.” (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see also, State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No

definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

The text messages from months before the shooting, at most, indicated a possible malice toward Harris by Appellant and demonstrated premeditation. Both factors are only relevant to a determination of the murder charge. The jury rejected a verdict of murder, requiring malice aforethought and premeditation, and instead convicted Appellant of voluntary manslaughter. The texts, admittedly from March and several months before the shooting occurred, could not have contributed to the heat of passion found by the jury that existed in July. Accordingly, the jury’s verdict finding Appellant killed Harris in the sudden heat of passion provoked by sufficient legal provocation in July could not have been impacted in any way by text messages referencing Appellant “talking shit” and possibly buying a gun months before in March.

Additionally, nothing in the text messages referenced Mahogany and could not have established any malice or other intent to cause her harm. The texts specifically referenced only Harris and the kids. Accordingly, even if the texts were admitted in error, Appellant cannot demonstrate how they prejudicially impacted the jury’s verdict finding him guilty of attempted murder as to Mahogany when the texts did not involve Mahogany in any way.

Accordingly, this Court should find the trial court did not abuse his discretion in admitting the text messages as present sense impressions because they were statements describing or explaining an event; contemporaneous with the event; and personally perceived by Harris. Even if the statements were improperly admitted Appellant has failed to demonstrate any

alleged prejudice suffered by their admission, so this Court should not find reversible error. Finally, even if error, this Court should find any error harmless because the texts, at most, were applicable to the elements of malice and premeditation for the charge of murder, and the jury convicted Appellant of voluntary manslaughter and not murder.

CONCLUSION